6

ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Richland County

Honorable DeAndrea G. Benjamin, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

LATISHA RASHIONE TODD,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2018-000348

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LANELLE CANTEY DURANT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

RECEIVED
JUN 06 2019
SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Richland County

Honorable DeAndrea G. Benjamin, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

LATISHA RASHIONE TODD,

APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Did the trial court err in qualifying the state's veterinarian expert as an expert in the new field of veterinary forensics because the expert had never been qualified as an expert in court in any field; her experience in veterinary forensics was minimal; the judge did not determine how this new field would assist the jury when the expert never saw the bodies of the dogs in this case; and the judge made no reliability finding of this underlying field of veterinary forensics when it was a new field?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 15, 2017, the Richland County Grand Jury indicted Appellant Latisha Todd on four counts of the ill treatment of animals pursuant to South Carolina Code Section 47-1-40 (B). On July 17 – 21, 2017 Appellant proceeded to trial before the Honorable Deandrea G. Benjamin and a jury. Appellant Todd was represented by Mark E. Schnee, and the state was represented by Joseph B. Berry and Sandra V. Moser. The jury found Appellant guilty of all four counts as indicted. The judge postponed sentencing and ordered a PSI be done by the Department of Probation, Pardon and Parole. The judge placed Appellant on bond and electronic monitoring. R. 461, ll. 1 – R. 482, ll. 9.

On February 20, 2018, Appellant appeared before the Honorable Deandrea G. Benjamin for sentencing. Appellant was again represented by Mark Schnee, and the state was represented by Joseph Berry and Sandra Moser. The judge sentenced Appellant Todd to five years on each of the four counts suspended to the service of thirty months. The sentences were to run concurrent to each other. R. 493, ll. 18 – 25. Trial counsel filed a notice of appeal. This appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The admission of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion.” State v. Hatcher, 392 S.C. 86, 91, 708 S.E.2d 750, 753 (2011) (quoting State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 208, 631 S.E.2d 262, 265 (2006)). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” Id.; see also State v. Brockmeyer, 406 S.C. 324, 340, 751 S.E.2d 645, 653 (2013).

ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in qualifying the state's veterinarian expert as an expert in the new field of veterinary forensics because the expert had never been qualified as an expert in court in any field; her experience in veterinary forensics was minimal; the judge did not determine how this new field would assist the jury when the expert never saw the bodies of the dogs in this case; and the judge made no reliability finding of this underlying field of veterinary forensics when it was a new field.

Relevant Facts

On July 1, 2016, Roger Williamson who was the maintenance manager for In House Realty, went to a rental house on Scarsdale Drive to cut the grass. The realty company had received complaints because the grass and bushes were grown up and the electricity had been cut off. When Williamson went to the back to cut the grass, he smelled a "real strong odor of decomposition" as a window in the house was broken. Williamson knew the smell of decomposition because he had served in the military thirty years and said he had "seen a lot of dead people." R. 64, ll. 1 - R. 66, ll. 4.

Williamson could tell that no one had been at the house for a "few weeks." When he went in the house, Williamson saw "a mass of maggots" coming from under the bathroom door. When he opened the door, he found a dog behind the toilet which was extremely decomposed so badly that there was nothing left but skin and bones. R. 66, ll. 9 - R. 67, ll. 23. He went further down the hall and found the "outline" of another deceased dog. He called the realty company and told them of the dead dogs. The realty company said that they were going to call Animal Control and Code Enforcement. R. 67, ll. 25 - R. 68, ll. 8.

Karisa Williamson, who worked for In House Realty, reported that the house was rented by Latisha Todd who lived there with her children. R. 82, ll. 1 – R. 84, ll. 18.

Jesse Cody, who was an animal care officer with Richland county Animal Care, received a call on July 1, 2016 that the maintenance man had found a deceased dog in the house on Scarsdale Drive. Ms. Cody could not go so she sent Talmadge Clemons to the home to check. R. 98, ll. 18 – R. 100, ll. 7.

Talmadge Clemons, who worked for Richland County Animal Care, went to the house on Scarsdale to check the report. She smelled an odor as of something dead inside the home. R. 87, ll. 1 – 25; R. 89, ll. 1 – 25. She called her department and told them what she found. She then left a violation notice of animal care generally. R. 93, ll. 1 – 14.

Officer Jesse Cody received a call on July 6, 2016 from Appellant Todd in response to the notice of violation left at the house. According to officer Cody, Todd told her she knew about the puppy found dead in the bathroom. Todd explained to Cody that she had left a man named John in charge of her two dogs while she was on vacation for two weeks. She allegedly told Cody that she left the other dog who was elderly with another friend. R. 100, ll. 1 – R. 101, ll. 23.

Amanda Jordan worked for the Richland County Sheriff's Department in the Code Enforcement Unit which was part of the Community Service Division. R. 107, ll. 1 – 24. Jordan had gone to the house on Scarsdale in July in response to community complaints received concerning the yard being overgrown and about an odor of stench from the property. R. 109, ll. 1 – R. 110, ll. 7.

When Jordan got out of her car, she said she smelled the smell of death, of decomposition. R. 111, ll. 16 -25. She called Investigator Joe Clarke, and told him she believed

there had been some kind of "incident" at the house. He said he would be there in about thirty minutes. R. 115, ll. 4 – R. 117, ll. 25. A car pulled in at that moment, and Appellant Todd appeared. Jordan asked Todd where the children were, and Todd responded that she had taken them to Pennsylvania to stay. When Jordan asked about the dogs, Jordan said that Todd got "teary-eyed" and pointed back at the house. R. 118, ll. 16 – R. 120, ll. 21. Investigator Clarke arrived about that time. R. 121, ll. 4 – 25.

Investigator Clarke could smell decomposition as soon as he got out of his car as he had been a homicide investigator for years. R. 153, ll. 3 – 20. He talked to Appellant Todd who gave consent for the investigator to look at the house. R. 155, ll. 4 – 18. Investigator Clarke, Appellant Todd, and Deputy Fish entered the house. R. 159, ll. 12 – 19.

Upon entering, Investigator Clarke saw the floor covered in bugs. The dogs had been removed but the investigator saw the stain and spot and remnants of the puppy's remains in the bathroom. The bathroom was covered in dead maggots, fleas, bugs, and "other vermin." R. 160, ll. 8 – R. 162, ll. 25. In the back bedroom, Investigator Clarke found three spots on the floor and outlines and remnants that appeared to be dogs. R. 163, ll. 1 – R. 164, ll. 23.

The three people in the house were covered in fleas and had to douse themselves with Raid when they exited the house. R. 174, ll. 3 – R. 175, ll. 6. Then Investigator Clarke decided he needed to talk with Appellant Todd as he wanted to try and get a statement from her. According to Investigator Clarke, he advised Todd of her Miranda warnings and rights which Todd did waive. R. 175, ll. 1 – 25.

According to Investigator Clarke, Todd told him that she had five dogs. She left them on June 3, 2016 and went to Pennsylvania. She left food and water. She returned July 3, 2016 and went to the house just to get her mail. She allegedly said that she did not go in the house because

the dogs "got so excited." R. 179, ll. 17 - R. 180, ll. 23. She learned that the dogs were dead from her uncle. The maintenance man told her uncle who told Todd. She said that she owned the dogs. R. 180, ll. 24 - R. 181, ll. 3.

Investigator Clarke said that he had heard from other people that Todd may have had someone who was taking care of the dogs for her. However, Todd did not mention that in her statement to the investigator. R. 181, ll. 5 - 25. Investigator Clarke did not arrest Appellant Todd at that point. R. 183, ll. 2 - R. 184, ll. 23. He did arrest Todd on July 19, 2016. R. 186, ll. 2 - 25.

The Richland County Grand Jury indicted Todd on four counts of the ill treatment of animals. Todd proceeded to trial on July 17-21, 2017. R. 1. In a pretrial hearing, the state asked the court to qualify their expert under Rule 702, SCRE, as an expert in veterinary forensics, veterinary services, and veterinary care. R. 7, ll. 1 - 10. Dr. Rebecca K. Laster then testified in camera concerning her qualifications. She was the animal services veterinarian for the City of Columbia Animal Shelter. R. 9, ll. 1 - 23.

Dr. Laster testified that one of her duties was to perform necropsies which were autopsies for animals. She assisted law enforcement by performing necropsies. R. 10, ll. 25 - R. 11, ll. 24. The expert explained that she received a graduate certificate in veterinarian forensics from the University of Florida in addition to her Doctorate of Veterinary Medicine. R. 12, ll. 1 - R. 13, ll. 15.

When asked about the field of veterinary forensics, she explained that it was a very new and developing field in veterinary medicine. It involved performing necropsies and legal cases and the law. Some of the classes explained what she would see in certain typed of animal cruelty cases. She was continuing to study shelter medicine as part of a masters degree. As part of her

practice and studies, she knew what happened to a dog's body when it was dehydrated and starved. R. 15, ll. 20 – R. 16, ll. 14.

When the judge asked if the doctor had done anything with the dogs in this case as the dogs were already dead and decomposed, the state replied that Dr. Laster was “essentially a blind expert.” She would be asked about hypotheticals about what happened to a dog if it did not have water or food for a number of days in very extreme heat. R. 18, ll. 2 – 24. The judge said she assumed the doctor was not giving an opinion regarding the animals in this case because she had not treated them. The state responded with “correct.” R. 19, ll. 8 – 25.

Defense counsel objected to expert being qualified in veterinary forensics. He argued that she had only a certificate that she had just recently received. He argued that she had done no work in that field, as her studies were veterinary care and providing medicine. The judge decided that she was going to allow the expert to testify to veterinary forensics. Defense counsel continued to argue that there was no forensic aspect in this case. He explained that the expert had done no examinations in this case so any testimony regarding forensics would be irrelevant. R. 52, ll. 15 – R. 53, ll. 23.

The judge responded that the expert's testimony concerning “dehydration and dogs dying from dehydration would come from her forensic knowledge versus just veterinary.” The judge ruled that she was going to qualify the doctor as an expert in veterinary forensics, medicine and veterinary care. R. 54, ll. 1 – R. 55, ll. 9.

During the trial, Dr. Laster told the jury that forensics meant “taking the science of medicine and applying it to legal cases.” She told them she had a certificate in veterinarian forensics. R. 209, ll. 1 – R. 212, ll. 6.

During defense counsel's voir dire of Dr. Laster, she admitted that she had never been qualified as an expert in any field in court. She had never testified in court as a forensic veterinarian. She had not performed any forensic examination in this case. Since she had received her certificate in veterinary forensics, she had performed only two forensic autopsies but had performed seven or eight forensic exams which were done on living animals. R. 212, ll. 10 – R. 214, ll. 16.

Defense counsel then objected to the qualification of Dr. Laster as an expert in the field of forensic veterinarian sciences. Counsel argued that her level of training in this field was minimal, and she had never been qualified as an expert in any field. Counsel also argued that the doctor had performed no forensic work in this case. R. 214, ll. 17 – R. 215, ll. 11.

The judge overruled the objection and qualified Dr. Laster as an expert in the areas of veterinary forensics, veterinary medicine, and veterinary care. R. 215, ll. 10 – 24.

Dr. Laster then testified as to the effects on a dog's body of a very few days without water. She said a dog would die within a few days without water but could last weeks without food. R. 216, ll. 5 – R. 224, ll. 5.

When the state rested its case, defense counsel renewed all prior motions and objections and moved for a directed verdict which was denied. R. 227, ll. 1 – 22; R. 235, ll. 3 – R. 239, ll. 4.

Appellant Todd testified at trial that she had four children and she had taken them to Pennsylvania to visit her parents during the summer. She tried to find one place for all of her dogs. However, Luther, the person she asked, would keep only one which was Prince, the oldest dog. R. 290, ll. 12 – R. 292, ll. 25. The other four were the puppies of Prince. R. 293, ll. 1 – 23.

She asked a man named John to keep the puppies. John was from the neighborhood and had kept dogs for her in the past, but which were different dogs. John was in a bind with his

relationship. Therefore, Todd asked him if he would stay at her house and look after the dogs.

This way he was helping her and she was helping him. John agreed to do it. She gave John money to buy things for the dogs. R. 294, ll. 9 -R. 296, ll. 25.

Todd first learned there was a problem with the dogs when her uncle called her and told her of the police officers in her yard. When she learned about the dogs, Todd came home. She had stopped in Sumter at her grandmother's house. R. 297, ll. 1 - R. 298, ll. 5. When she arrived at her house, Investigator Clarke and Amanda Jordan were there. Her uncle had removed the dogs the day before as she could not do it. She gave a written statement to Investigator Clarke. R. 298, ll. 6 - R. 300, ll. 24.

At the close of the testimony, defense counsel renewed all motion and objections. R. 321, ll. 14 - 22.

The jury returned a verdict of guilty on the four charges as indicted. R. 453, ll. 19 - R. 455, ll. 7. The judge ordered a Presentence Investigation (PSI) at the request of defense counsel. R. 461, ll. 1 - R. 463, ll. 22. On February 20, 2018, Appellant Todd and counsel appeared before Judge Benjamin for sentencing following the PSI. The judge sentenced Todd to five years on each of the four counts with the sentences to run concurrent. The judge ordered the five years suspended to the service of thirty months with probation for two years. R. 483 - R. 494, ll. 25.

Appellant Todd filed a notice of appeal.

Discussion

Under Rule 702, SCRE, if scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness

qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise. All expert testimony must satisfy Rule 702, SCRE, criteria. State v. White, 382, S.C. 265, 270, 676 S.E.2d 684, 686 (2009).

Under the Rule, the trial court exercises a gatekeeping function to insure the proposed expert testimony meets a reliability threshold for the jury's consideration. Id. This inquiry requires that the proposed expert testimony meets a sufficient level of reliability, regardless of whether it is scientific or nonscientific. Id. Reliability is the central concern governing the admission of expert testimony. State v. Jones, 343 S.C. at 572, 541 S.E.2d at 818.

Under State v. White, *supra*, two threshold determinations must be made: the qualifications of the expert must be sufficient, and there must be a determination that the expert's testimony will be reliable. State v. Chavis, 412 S.C. 101, 771 S.E.2d 336 (2015) citing State v. White, *supra*.

Trial courts should be cautious in conferring an expert label upon a witness because juries may accord excessive or undue weight to "expert" testimony. Watson v. Ford Motor Co., 389 S.C. 434, 699 S.E.2d 169 (2010). In State v. Kromah, 401 S.C. 340, 737 S.E.2d 490 (2013), the Supreme Court wrote:

Although an expert's testimony theoretically is to be given no more weight by a jury than any other witness, it is an inescapable fact that jurors can have a tendency to attach more significance to the testimony of experts.

Trial courts are required to establish whether: (1) the expert has the requisite qualifications, experience, and/or credentials; (2) the methodology by which the evidence is obtained is reliable; and (3) the evidence will assist the trier of fact. State v. Council, 335 S.C.1, 515 S.E.2d 508 (1999).

When evaluating scientific evidence under Rule 702, SCRE, the trial court must determine if the underlying science is reliable. State v. Council. In making its determination, the trial court must

examine the following factors: (1) publications and peer reviews of the technique used by the expert; (2) prior application of the method to the type of evidence involved in the case; (3) quality control procedures used to ensure reliability; and (4) the consistency of the method with recognized scientific laws and procedures. State v. Jones, supra.

The admissibility of an expert's testimony is a matter within the trial court's sound discretion and the determination will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion. A trial court's ruling on the admissibility of expert testimony constitutes an abuse of discretion where the ruling is unsupported by the evidence or controlled by an error of law. State v. Jones, supra.

While both scientific and nonscientific expert testimony require the trial court make a finding of reliability, there is no formulaic approach for determining the reliability of nonscientific testimony. State v. Jones, supra.