ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
The Honorable DeAndrea G. Benjamin, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2018-000348

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

LATISHA RASHIONE TODD,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

SCOTT MATTHEWS
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

BYRON E. GIPSON
Solicitor, Fifth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 192
Columbia, SC 29202
(803)-748-4785

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

MAY 16 2019

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY

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

ARGUMENT

I.

The issue of whether Dr. Rebecca Laster was properly admitted as an expert in the field of veterinary forensics was not properly preserved for appeal because Appellant waived the issue when she expressly conceded that the substance of Dr. Laster's testimony was proper. However, even if the issue was properly preserved for appeal, the trial judge did not abuse her discretion in qualifying Dr. Laster as an expert in the field of veterinary forensics because Dr. Laster possessed the requisite skill, education, and training to testify as an expert in that field. Even if Dr. Laster was improperly tendered as an expert in the field of veterinary forensics, Appellant was not prejudiced by her testimony because Appellant conceded that Dr. Laster's testimony was proper thereby making any error harmless.

Appellant contends the trial judge erred by qualifying Dr. Laster as an expert in the field of veterinary forensics because the trial judge did not make a finding that the field of veterinary forensics was reliable. Appellant also maintains the subject matter of Dr. Laster's testimony was not beyond the common knowledge of an ordinary lay juror. Appellant's arguments are without merit. As an initial matter, Appellant did not preserve this issue for appellate review because Appellant waived her objection by conceding that Dr. Laster's testimony was proper. However, even if Appellant properly preserved this issue for Appellant review, Dr. Laster was nonetheless appropriately qualified as an expert in the field of veterinary forensics, veterinary medicine, and veterinary care because she had over twenty years' experience as a veterinary doctor and obtained a specific certification in the field of veterinary forensics that required her to complete five twelve-week courses. Even if Dr. Laster did not have the proper qualifications to be tendered as an expert witness in the field of veterinary forensics, Appellant was not prejudiced by her testimony because Appellant explicitly conceded that Dr. Laster's testimony was proper. Appellant only objected to Dr. Laster testifying about the emotional state of Appellant's dogs, but conceded that testimony about the physical effects of dehydration and starvation was proper. The trial judge appropriately excluded the testimony that Appellant objected to. Therefore,

Appellant suffered no prejudice from Dr. Laster's testimony and any error in admitting Laster's testimony is harmless. Appellant's convictions and sentences should be affirmed.

Error Preservation

"In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, it must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge. Issues not raised and ruled upon in the trial court will not be considered on appeal." State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693 (2003). If a party expressly consents to the admission of evidence, that party waives their right to raise that issue on appeal. State v. Johnson, 298 S.C. 496, 498, 381 S.E.2d 732, 733 (1989). A party may not argue one ground at trial and an alternate ground on appeal. State v. Prioleau, 345 S.C. 404, 548 S.E.2d 213 (2001). "The rule is well established that if asserted errors are not presented to the lower Court, the question cannot be raised for the first time on appeal." State v. Freiburger, 366 S.C. 125, 135, 620 S.E. 2d 737, 742 (2005). "Our law is clear that a party must make a contemporaneous objection that is ruled upon by the trial judge to preserve an issue for appellate review." State v. Sheppard, 391 S.C. 415, 420-21, 706 S.E.2d 16, 19 (2011).

Here, Appellant waived her objection to Dr. Laster's testimony by conceding that it was proper for Dr. Laster to testify about the physical effects of dehydration and starvation on a dog. Appellant only objected to testimony about the behavioral or emotional state of Appellant's dogs, but expressly conceded that she had no problem with testimony about the physical condition of the dogs. (R. 51). The trial judge agreed with Appellant and prohibited Dr. Laster from testifying about the emotional state of the dogs. Dr. Laster complied with the trial judge's ruling and limited her testimony to the physical effects of dehydration, starvation, and insect bites. (R. 205-26). Therefore, Appellant received the relief she requested at trial and thus waived her right to raise any issue with Dr. Laster's testimony on appeal.

Appellant further contends the trial judge erred in not making a finding regarding the reliability of the field of veterinary forensics. However, Appellant did not preserve this issue for appeal either. Appellant did indeed object to Dr. Laster being offered as an expert in the specific field of veterinary forensics, but Appellant objected on the basis of Dr. Laster's qualifications, not the reliability of the subject matter. Appellant lamented that Dr. Laster had only recently obtained her veterinary forensics certificate and therefore she did not have enough experience in the field. (R. 52-54). However, Appellant never questioned the reliability of the science of veterinary forensics, and even acknowledged that she did not have a problem with Dr. Laster testifying about the physical effects of dehydration and starvation. (R. 50-51). Therefore, Appellant did not preserve this issue for appellate review.

Expert Testimony

Appellant contends the trial judge erred in qualifying Dr. Laster as an expert in the field of veterinary forensics, but does not contest that Dr. Laster was properly qualified as an expert in the fields of veterinary medicine and care. The trial judge did not abuse her discretion in qualifying Dr. Laster as an expert in veterinary forensics because she had the requisite skill, education, and training to qualify as an expert in that field. However, even if the trial judge improperly tendered Dr. Laster as an expert in the field of veterinary forensics, the substance of Dr. Laster's testimony would still have been admissible under the general fields of veterinary medicine and veterinary care that Dr. Laster was also deemed to be an expert in.

Pursuant to the South Carolina Rules of Evidence, expert testimony is admissible under the following circumstances:

If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill,

experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise.

Rule 702, SCRE; “Expert testimony may be used to help the jury to determine a fact in issue based on the expert’s specialized knowledge, experience, or skill and is necessary in cases in which the subject matter falls outside the realm of ordinary lay knowledge.” Watson v. Ford Motor Co., 389 S.C. 434, 445, 699 S.E.2d 169, 175 (2010).

In order to admit scientific evidence under rule 702 SCRE, the trial court must find: (1) the testimony will assist the trier of fact, (2) the witness is qualified, (3) the underlying science is reliable, and (4) the testimony’s probative value is not outweighed by its prejudicial effect. State v. Council, 335 S.C. 1, 20, 515 S.E.2d 508, 518 (1999). “The criteria for admitting the testimony of an expert is not whether the expert holds a degree in the specialty field he seeks to testify about, but whether he has such expertise in a business, profession, or science that he is better qualified than the jury to form an opinion on the particular subject of his testimony.” State v. Peer, 320 S.C. 546, 554-555, 466 S.E.2d 375, 380 (Ct. App. 1996).

Here, the trial judge listened to proffered testimony from Dr. Laster in an *in camera* hearing. (R. 9). Dr. Laster received an undergraduate degree in Zoology in 1990 and a Doctorate of Veterinary Medicine in 1994. (R. 12). Dr. Laster practiced as a veterinarian for multiple species from 1994 until the date of trial in 2017. As of the date of trial, Dr. Laster obtained a graduate certificate in veterinary forensics from the University of Florida and she was pursuing a master’s degree in Shelter Medicine. (R. 12). To obtain the graduate certificate in veterinary forensics, Dr. Laster completed five 12 week-long classes. (R. 43). In the course of her career, Dr. Laster often performed autopsies on animals to determine a cause of death and she estimated that she performed over ten thousand surgeries. (R. 11, 15).

After hearing testimony from Dr. Laster, the trial judge articulated her analysis of the admissibility of Dr. Laster's testimony under Rule 702 SCRE. (R. 43-45). The trial judge properly determined the subject matter of the testimony fell outside the realm of the ordinary knowledge of the average lay juror. (R. 43). The trial judge then determined the witness was qualified to testify about the physical effects of dehydration and starvation, but she expressed concern regarding the reliability of any testimony regarding the behavioral science of dogs experiencing dehydration and starvation. (R. 44-45). Ultimately, the trial judge determined that any testimony regarding behavioral science was not reliable and thus not admissible. (R. 53). Dr. Laster complied with the trial judge's ruling and only testified about the physical effects of dehydration and starvation. (R. 205-26). Implicit in the trial judge's ruling was her determination that testimony regarding the effects of starvation and dehydration was reliable. The trial judge did not articulate her finding of reliability in her ruling, but she was not required to. The trial judge did not need to make a reliability finding when Appellant explicitly acknowledged that she did not object to Dr. Laster testifying about the physical effects of dehydration and starvation. (R. 51).

To the extent Appellant quibbles with the specific field of expertise Dr. Laster was qualified as an expert in, Dr. Laster's testimony was entirely appropriate within the fields that Appellant did not object to. Appellant specifically objected to Dr. Laster being tendered as an expert in veterinary forensics. (R. 52-53). However, Appellant never objected to Dr. Laster's qualifications in the fields of veterinary medicine and veterinary care. Dr. Laster's testimony regarding the physical effects of dehydration and starvation on a dog--testimony Appellant explicitly conceded was proper--would be admissible if Dr. Laster had only been tendered as an expert in veterinary medicine and veterinary care. Because Dr. Laster was testifying as a blind

witness and did not perform a physical examination of the deceased dogs, her general expertise in veterinary medicine was a sufficient basis for her to testify regarding the physical effects of starvation and dehydration. Thus, even if the State did not offer Dr. Laster as an expert in the field of veterinary forensics, the subject matter of her testimony was still properly offered under her general expertise in veterinary medicine.

Harmless Error

Even if the trial judge improperly qualified Dr. Laster as an expert in the field of veterinary forensics, Appellant suffered no prejudice from the substance of her testimony. Appellant explicitly agreed that Dr. Laster was qualified to testify about the physical effects of dehydration and starvation on a dog. The only substantive aspect of Dr. Laster's testimony Appellant objected to was any discussion of the emotional or psychological effects of starvation or dehydration on a dog. The trial judge sustained Appellant's objection, and Dr. Laster did not testify to any emotional effects of starvation or dehydration. Therefore, Appellant suffered no prejudice from the trial judge's ruling and any error was entirely harmless.

An appellate court generally will decline to set aside a conviction due to insubstantial errors not affecting the result. State v. Black, 400 S.C. 10, 27, 732 S.E.2d 880, 890 (2012). An "error without prejudice does not warrant reversal." State v. King, 367 S.C. 131, 136, 623 S.E.2d 865, 867 (Ct. App. 2005). "A court's ruling on the admissibility of evidence will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion or the commission of legal error which results in prejudice to the defendant." Id. "Where a review of the entire record establishes the error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, the conviction should not be reversed." State v. Thompson, 352 S.C. 552, 562, 575 S.E.2d 77, 83 (Ct. App. 2003).

The trial judge determined Dr. Laster was qualified to testify about the physical effects of dehydration, starvation and insect bites on a dog. However, the trial judge expressed reservations about Dr. Laster testifying to any behavioral characteristics of a dog who was experiencing these physical conditions. The trial judge articulated her ruling in the following manner:

The Court: She can testify as to, I know this is what happens when a dog becomes dehydrated, I know this is what happens when a dog has issues of, I guess, infestation of ticks or fleas, because she has treated dogs for that. But as far as anxiety in the dogs and how the dogs may have felt in the last days, I'm not sure if she can testify.

(R. 45, lines 3-17). Appellant agree with the trial judge's ruling and clarified that she was only objecting to any testimony about the psychological effects various physical conditions would have on a dog:

Mr. Schnee: My concern is anything dealing with psychology and behavioral sciences. The dehydration aspect of the salt toxicity and it causing problems with the brain to function and causing pain and then, obviously, you know, the eating random objects, that is certainly clearly established because that is something that's easy to observe. The other aspect about anxiety--anything dealing with anxiety, any emotional attachment to any--any action or inaction of either any other dogs or what's going on, that's kind of what I'm having a problem with. That's the part the science does not have.

(R. 48-49, lines 23-10). Appellant again clarified the basis of his objection when she stated:

Mr. Schnee: Right. When it comes to just the dehydration and lack of food issue technically, it's the behavioral aspect and the anxiety and the emotional—any emotional phrase is what I'm objecting to. All the physical effects, I have no problem with those.

(R. 51, lines 9-14).

Here, Appellant objected to the specific field of expertise that Dr. Laster was tendered as an expert in, veterinary forensics, but she did not object to the substance of Dr. Laster's testimony. (R. 52). Appellant's argument is therefore an exercise in semantics. Appellant cannot

claim to be prejudiced by Dr. Laster's testimony when she specifically agreed the substance of Dr. Laster's testimony was proper. Even if Appellant had contested the substance of Dr. Laster's testimony, her testimony regarding the physical effects of dehydration and starvation was still admissible under the additional fields of veterinary medicine and veterinary care that Dr. Laster was also qualified to be an expert witness in.

To the extent that Appellant maintains she was prejudiced by the label of veterinary forensics, it is unlikely the jury's verdict was improperly influenced by the title of Dr. Laster's field of expertise. It is more likely the jury's verdict was influenced by the overwhelming evidence presented against Appellant. Appellant testified that she lived at 608 Scarsdale Drive and that she was the owner of the four dogs who were found there. (R. 303-04). She admitted that she left the dogs at home alone for a month while she was in Pennsylvania. She maintained a man named John was supposed to be staying at her home to take care of her dogs, but she did not know his last name or where he lived. Appellant also admitted to returning to her residence to check her mail on July 3, 2016, but she did not go inside to check on her dogs despite the odor of decomposition being noticeably present outside the residence prior to that date. (R. 65, 89, 305). Appellant's convictions and sentences should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgments and convictions of the lower court should be affirmed.